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In the afternoon of 2 August 1618, a fire broke 
out in the Weimar Residenzschloss. In a matter of 
hours, the flames ravaged the church of St Martin, 
the princely apartments, and the reception rooms 
located in the east and north wing of the castle. 
The conflagration seems to have been caused by 
an explosion in the workshop of Samuel Kluge, 
a Bohemian alchemist.1 Duke Johann Ernst ‘der 
Jüngere’ (the Younger) von Sachsen-Weimar 
(1594– 1626)2 had hoped that the fruits of Kluge’s 
experiments might supplement his revenue; in-
stead, he had to find additional funds to finance 
the reconstruction of his castle. The assembled 
estates of Sachsen-Weimar agreed to an extraor-
dinary tax to pay for the building in March 1619; 
works began shortly thereafter.3

A ground plan of the new Weimar Residenz-
schloss is kept in the Graphische Sammlungen of 
the Klassik Stiftung Weimar (fig. 1).4 Only a por-
tion of the planned building – the south-eastern 
pavillon, containing the new church  – was ef-
fectively constructed, between 1619 and 1630. 
Anonymous and undated, the ground plan has 
been attributed to Giovanni Bonalino (c. 1575 –
c. 1633), a master-builder from Roveredo, in the 
Grisons, who directed the reconstruction works 
of the Weimar Residenzschloss from 1619 to 1623.5 
As the present article shows, the author of the 
ground plan, and mastermind of the whole re-
construction project, was actually the Floren-
tine polymath Costantino de’ Servi (1554– 1622), 
whose presence in Weimar in 1618 – 1619 has so 
far been overlooked.

This new attribution has profound implica-
tions for our understanding of Bonalino, de’ 
Servi, and the Weimar Residenzschloss. The 
latter’s reconstruction is the first major proj-

ect to which Bonalino’s name has been associ-
ated.6 De’ Servi, by contrast, was a well-known 
artist by 1618: he had worked as a painter, sculp-
tor, impresario, architect, and artistic advisor 
for the Medici Grand Dukes of Tuscany, King 
Henri IV of France, Holy Roman Emperor Ru-
dolf II, Prince Maurits of Nassau, and Duke Jo-
hann Friedrich von Württemberg. In 1611 – 1612, 
he was commissioned to overhaul Richmond 
Palace and its gardens by Henry Stuart, Prince 
of Wales; the latter’s premature death, however, 
prevented de’ Servi from carrying out his plans.7

In 1998, a ground plan of de Servi’s project 
for Richmond was re-discovered in the Florence 
Archivio di Stato, allowing scholars to appreci-
ate the full extent of its ambition: the new gar-
dens would have rivalled Bernardo Buontalenti’s 
masterpiece at Pratolino and Salomon de Caus’s 
famous Hortus Palatinus at Heidelberg (fig. 2).8 
De’ Servi’s project for the Weimar Residenz-
schloss was entirely different, yet equally ambi-
tious. Confronted with the challenge of rebuild-
ing an entire castle  – whereas at Richmond he 
had been confined to the renovation of an exist-
ing building, and the laying out of gardens – de’ 
Servi planned to transform the smoking ashes of 
a medieval fortress into the well-proportioned, 
geometrically arranged four wings of a palazzo.

The sources of inspiration which might have 
guided de’ Servi’s pen are numerous. The tho
rough scrutiny they deserve is beyond the scope 
of this article, which will limit itself to identify-
ing three directions of inquiry. First, de’ Servi’s 
design is clearly Italianate in style.9 The Floren-
tine architect looked to Galeazzo Alessi’s work 
at the Palazzo Marino in Milan, but also to 
Giovanni Maria Aostalli’s and Ulrico Aostalli’s 
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overhaul of Litomyšl Castle in Bohemia. Second, 
de’ Servi is likely to have been influenced by his 
work on Richmond Palace in England, during 
which he collaborated with a number of other 

architects and engineers. Third, de’ Servi most 
probably looked to the local architectural tradi-
tion for inspiration, both in Weimar itself and 
elsewhere in Saxony.

1  Costantino de’ Servi (by or after), Ground plan of the new Weimar Residenzschloss, undated (1618/1619), pen and 
watercolours on paper, 32.3 × 30 cm. Weimar, Klassik Stiftung (KSW), Graphische Sammlungen
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I

The west bank of the river Ilm, the site of the Wei-
mar Residenzschloss, has been fortified since at 
least the tenth century. Together with the parish of 
St Jacob and the Cistercensian nunnery of Ober-
weimar, the moated castle on the Ilm formed the 
nucleus of the city of Weimar, which was founded 
in the mid-thirteenth century.10 It remained un-
der the control of the Counts of Orlamünde until 
1372, when the line died out and their lands es-
cheated to the Wettin Landgraves of Meißen, who 
had established themselves as the most prominent 
princely family in Saxony and Thuringia.11

In 1424, a large fire razed the castle and the 
whole city – as a result, none of Weimar’s build-

ings which are still standing today predates the 
fifteenth century.12 Large parts of the castle, 
including the entrance building with its gate-
way (known today as ‘Bastille’), the church of 
St Martin, and the residential east wing were 
rebuilt over the following century.13 The 1485 
Leipzig partition, which divided Wettin lands 
among Ernst and his younger brother Albrecht, 
accelerated the process: Weimar remained in the 
possession of Ernst and his descendants, who as 
the senior branch of the Wettin family also re-
tained the Electoral title.14 In 1531, Elector Johann 
Friedrich ‘der Großmütige’ (the Magnanimous; 
r. 1532 – 1554) designated Weimar as a Residenz-
stadt of Electoral Saxony, alongside Torgau, Co-
burg, and Wittenberg.15 Weimar castle accord-

2  Costantino de’ Servi, Project (unrealised) for Richmond Palace and Gardens, 1611 –1612, pen, stylus, chalk and washes 
on paper, 41.1 × 55 cm. Florence, Archivio di Stato (ASFi), Miscellanea Medicea
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ingly became a Residenzschloss; its residential 
east wing was embellished with the addition of 
a large representative staircase and an imposing 
oriel, while the entrance portal was redesigned 
in Renaissance fashion. The rest of the complex, 
including the church, was also renovated by the 
princely architects Conrad Krebs and Nicol Gro-
mann, who added elaborate gables to the roofs.16

Weimar’s fortunes turned at the Battle of 
Mühlberg, in 1547. The defeat of the Schmalkal-
dic League by Imperial forces precipitated the 
downfall of Elector Johann Friedrich, who was 
imprisoned and obliged to cede the Electoral 
title  – together with large swathes of land  – to 
his Albertine relative, Moritz of Saxony. Now a 
simple Duke, Johann Friedrich came out of gaol 

in 1552 and chose Weimar as the seat of his court; 
his descendants would rule the city until the early 
twentieth century.17 What had been a catastrophe 
for the Ernestine Wettins was in fact a boon for 
Weimar: the city’s population boomed in the sec-
ond half of the sixteenth century, and a flurry of 
building activity transformed its appearance.18

A bird’s eye view drawn in 1569 captures some 
of the vibrancy of the Ernestine Residenzstadt 
(fig. 3). The city expands well beyond its bastions 
and moats, which contain tightly packed rows of 
houses, arranged around the parish church of 
St Peter and Paul and the market square. At the 
top of the view, to the east, the ‘Schloss Horn-
stein’ is depicted as an assemblage of buildings, 
roughly oval in shape, stretching along the bank 

3  Johannes Wolf (after Veit Thiem), A bird's eye view of Weimar, ca. 1569 (published 1593), copperplate engraving, 
34.8 × 47.5 cm. Weimar, Klassik Stiftung (KSW), Graphische Sammlungen
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of the Ilm and surrounded by a moat. The resi-
dential and representative east wing stands out, 
as does the south-western entrance portal open-
ing towards the market square. To the south of 
the Residenzschloss is a second castle, with an 
adjoining formal garden. This ‘Grüne Schlöss-
chen’ had been commissioned in 1562 by Johann 
Wilhelm, who was then governing the Duchy on 
behalf of his brother Johann Friedrich ‘der Mit-
tlere’, and who would become Duke in his own 
right in 1566.19

At Johann Wilhelm’s death in 1573, his wife 
Dorothea Susanna commissioned a third castle, 

the ‘Rote Schloss’, which was erected between 
the Residenzschloss and the ‘Grüne Schlösschen’, 
and which served as her seat in widowhood.20 
The three castles were connected by an elevated 
passageway, a wooden structure which allowed 
the ducal family and their courtiers to come and 
go without mixing with the citizens of Weimar 
in the streets below. After the 1618 fire, the court 
temporarily relocated to the ‘Rote Schloss’ as the 
Residenzschloss underwent reconstruction.21

The last major building project before the 1618 
fire was the erection of the ‘Grüne Haus’, a tall, 
well-proportioned pavilion attached to the east 

4  Wilhelm Richter, The east wing of the Weimar Residenzschloss (copy?), 1652, pencil and paint on paper, 32.4 × 39 cm. 
Weimar, Klassik Stiftung (KSW), Graphische Sammlungen
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wing of the Residenzschloss. It enclosed a small 
courtyard with its own spiral staircase, and on 
the ground floor to the east it opened on to a 
bridge on the castle moat.22 Its burned out walls 
can be seen in a drawing by Wilhelm Richter, 
documenting the state of the east wing of the 
Residenzschloss after the conflagration (fig. 4).23 
Whilst the south and west wing of the castle had 
been largely preserved, the north and east wing 
were ravaged by the 1618 fire, which only left their 
walls standing. The remains of the representative 
staircase and the large oriel decorating the east 
wing’s façade are also visible on Richter’s draw-
ing, as is the ruined church of St Martin. A crane 
was erected atop the church tower to remove the 
rubble and clear the way for the reconstruction 
works.24

II

On 20 April 1618, three months before fire de-
stroyed his Residenzschloss, Duke Johann Ernst 
‘der Jüngere’ wrote to Cosimo II de’ Medici, 
Grand Duke of Tuscany, to “ask for a favour, 
which is, that Your Highness may please give six 
months’ leave to Your servant and engineer Giulio 
Parigi, so that he may come find us and serve us 
here at our Court”.25 Giulio Parigi (1571 – 1635) had 
studied with Buontalenti; from the latter’s death 
in 1608 until the end of his own life in 1635, Parigi 
was the chief court architect and scenographer in 
Florence. Since 1616, he had been commissioned 
by Grand Duke Cosimo II with the enlargement 
of the princely residence, the Palazzo Pitti.26

Duke Johann Ernst ‘der Jüngere’ had been 
educated at the University of Jena, and in 1613 –
1614 he travelled to France, the United Provinces, 
and England.27 The regency of his Albertine rela-
tive, Elector Johann Georg I of Saxony, ended in 
1615, and from the very first years of his rule the 
young Duke signalled his ambition to raise the 
cultural and artistic status of his capital, Wei-
mar.28 In 1617, for example, he was among the 

founders of the Fruchtbringende Gesellschaft 
(Fruitbearing Society), which pursued the stan-
dardisation and promotion of German as a lit-
erary language “without the mixing of foreign, 
alien words”.29 Although Johann Ernst had never 
visited Tuscany, he must have been informed 
of Parigi’s skills, and it is likely that he wished 
to recruit the Florentine architect to pursue his 
artistic ambitions. In his letter to Grand Duke 
Cosimo II he only mentioned a “thing of his pro-
fession”, without giving any more precision as to 
what Parigi would do at his court.30

Parigi never travelled to Weimar; instead, 
Grand Duke Cosimo II dispatched to Saxony 
another of his court artists, Costantino de’ Servi. 
In the spring of 1618 de’ Servi was in Milan, at 
the court of the Spanish Governor Don Pedro 
de Toledo.31 It was therefore logistically more 
feasible to send him across the Alps rather than 
Parigi, who was in Florence. Furthermore, Parigi 
was one of the most prominent artists at the 
Medicean court, and he was busy working on the 
Palazzo Pitti. De’ Servi, on the other hand, had 
spent large parts of his career at foreign courts, 
and he had not received a major commission 
from the Medici since 1608 – 1609.32

De’ Servi, however, should not be consid-
ered as a mere back-up, chosen by default given 
Parigi’s unavailability. At least one quality made 
de’ Servi stand out in the eyes of Grand Duke 
Cosimo II as the most suitable person to send 
to Weimar: his ability to collect precious infor-
mation and act as an informal diplomatic agent. 
In Prague in 1603 – 1605, for example, his artistic 
skills had enabled him to approach an increas-
ingly secluded Rudolf II.33 Whilst foreign ambas-
sadors were rarely given access to the Emperor, 
de’ Servi became his artistic advisor and was as-
signed “some rooms which are in the Corridor 
where His Majesty can daily come and go”.34 In 
London in 1611 – 1612, de’ Servi’s work as an ar-
chitect and portraitist similarly offered him un-
rivalled access to Henry Stuart – which he used 
to further Medicean matrimonial ambitions.35
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In 1618, confessional tensions were brewing in 
the Empire: in May, Bohemia rebelled against 
Habsburg rule, and started gesturing towards 
Protestant princes and monarchs for support. 
Johann Ernst’s letter offered Grand Duke Co-
simo II the opportunity to dispatch a Florentine 
courtier to Saxony, close to the revolt’s epicentre. 
At once a polyvalent artist and an experienced 
informant, de’ Servi was ideally placed to satisfy 
both Cosimo II and Johann Ernst. He accord-
ingly left Milan in the summer of 1618, and “ar-
rived here [in Weimar] just after a disgrace hap-
pened to this palace: a fire that started secretly 
and ended up destroying more than half its 
buildings and yet other things”, as Johann Ernst 
wrote to Grand Duke Cosimo II in November 
1619.36 De’ Servi’s presence in Weimar in the af-
termath of the 1618 fire was thus a coincidence: 
his Saxon trip had been arranged before the con-
flagration took place.

During his stay in Weimar, de’ Servi wrote 
two letters to the grand-ducal secretary Curzio 
Picchena. The first of these, dated 5 April 1619, 
expressed concern for his financial situation: his 
wife had been forced to sell their house in Flo
rence to repay a debt. De’ Servi was keenly aware 
that his new patrons “are poor Princes with 
many brothers, whose incomes cannot sustain 
the expenses of so many moods”.37 He was there-
fore planning to return home as soon as “the 
stonemasons from Italy, who will get here in 20 
days’ time”, would begin work at the Residenz-
schloss.38 The letter even included a plea to Grand 
Duchess Dowager Cristina di Lorena, asking to 
be appointed to a civic office upon his return to 
Florence, so as to stabilise his finances with a 
fixed salary.

Five months later, however, de’ Servi was still 
“here, it can be said, buried amidst the woods in 
a miserable city where these Princes of Saxony 
reside”.39 In this second letter from Weimar de’ 
Servi retold a conversation he had had with Jo-
hann Ernst, “in private and in Italian”,40 about 
the recent military, political, and religious ma-

noeuvres in the region. De’ Servi had accused 
the German princes of “thinking more about the 
Interest of the State than that of the Soul, neither 
do they think of anything else but to occupy that 
which belongs to others with a thousand excuses 
of religion”.41 In his opinion, “it would be much 
better if you Princes would unite all together out 
of common agreement against the Infidels and 
the non-believers in Christ, for you would ac-
quire greater states and kingdoms”.42 This is the 
first of a number of irenicist suggestions made 
by de’ Servi in the course of the conversation: 
he also exhorted Johann Ernst to “leave religion 
alone and you’ll see that you’ll be left alone by us 
Catholics, for we also love the freedom of state 
and preservation of our religion”.43 Being keenly 
aware of the influence exerted over Johann Ernst 
by his relatives Prince Ludwig I of Anhalt-Köthen 
and Prince Christian I of Anhalt-Bernburg, both 
prominent leaders of the Protestant Union,44 he 
deployed an economic argument as well, adding 
that in case of war, “Your Highness will spend so 
much money that You would afford two of the 
Palaces just begun”.45

Despite de’ Servi’s best efforts – which show-
case his talents as informal diplomatic agent  – 
Duke Johann Ernst ‘der Jüngere’ adopted a hard-
line position among the Protestant princes of the 
Empire, offering his full support to the Elector 
Palatine Frederick V, soon to be crowned King of 
Bohemia by the rebellious Estates.46 In Novem-
ber 1619, Johann Ernst attended a meeting of the 
Protestant Union in Nuremberg where he put 
forward these views.47 De’ Servi travelled with 
him and resided in the city for a while; thence 
he travelled southwards to the Catholic territory 
of Pfalz-Neuburg. It is unclear whether the Duke 
had given his consent to this part of the journey. 
De’ Servi described it in an emotional letter from 
Neuburg, dated Christmas Eve 1619, as a passage 
“[f]rom Purgatory to Paradise […] by the grace 
of God and the Virgin Mary, for I have passed 
many dangers for the soul and the body”.48 This 
might suggest a perilous flight; it might also refer 
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to the difficulties of travel in the midst of winter 
and impending conflict. As has been mentioned, 
de’ Servi had been planning to return home since 
the spring: he might have suddenly decided to 
flee Nuremberg, but he might also have reached 
an agreement with his patron before parting 
ways.49

In either case, by the end of 1619 de’ Servi had 
left Weimar, never to return: he died three years 
later in Tuscany.50 Duke Johann Ernst ‘der Jün-
gere’ went on to join the army of the ‘Winter 
King’ Frederick of Bohemia. After surviving de-
feat at the White Mountain on 8 November 1620, 
he continued to fight the Habsburg, first with 
the Dutch, then with the Danish, leaving the 
government of Sachsen-Weimar to his brother 
Wilhelm IV.51 The latter oversaw the completion 
of reconstruction works on the south-eastern pa-
vilion of the Residenzschloss, containing the new 
Schlosskirche which was consecrated in 1630.52

From 1619 to 1623, the reconstruction works 
were directed by Bonalino. The Grison master-
builder was first mentioned on 5 January 1619, in 
a letter asking Johann Gottfried I von Aschhau-
sen, Prince-Bishop of Würzburg and Bamberg, 
to allow him to leave the diocese of Bamberg to 
work on the Weimar Residenzschloss.53 In April, 
the ducal court at Weimar was in correspondence 
with Bonalino himself; his first trip to Weimar 
can be dated to May 1619.54 Previous scholarship 
has taken this to be the occasion when Bonalino 
surveyed the ruins of the Residenzschloss and 
laid out his project for the castle.55

Given that the unsigned and undated ground 
plan of the projected Residenzschloss (fig. 1) has 
captions in Italian, and that Bonalino came 
from Roveredo, in the Italian-speaking Alpine 
valley of Misox, this attribution is a plausible in
ference.56 However it needs to be revised in light 
of de’ Servi’s presence in Weimar. De’ Servi was 
older, more experienced, and of higher social sta-
tus than Bonalino. As Angela Michel has pointed 
out in her biography of Bonalino, “these Grison 
master-builders often carried out others’ plans, 

acting as work masters or building managers 
[Werkmeister oder Bauleiter]”.57 Michel has also 
noted that Bonalino’s April letters to the Wei-
mar court suggest that he himself was unsure 
whether another architect had already begun 
work on the Residenzschloss.58 By the spring of 
1619 de’ Servi had already been in Weimar for at 
least six months; as the next section of this arti-
cle will show, there is little doubt that the ground 
plan was of his conception.

A new picture of Bonalino’s role can thus be 
formed. As Michel has shown, the Grison mas-
ter-builder was able to pay low wages by recruit-
ing his workers among the bands of young men 
from Grisons who crossed the Alps in the sum-
mer months to find employment in the Empire. 
Having kept his workforce costs down, Bonalino 
could offer bargain prices to his employers.59 It is 
possible, therefore, that when on 5 April 1619 de’ 
Servi wrote of “the stonemasons from Italy, who 
will get here in 20 days’ time”, he was actually 
referring to Bonalino and his men.60 As will be 
shown, de’ Servi was the courtly architect, who 
masterminded the reconstruction; from May 
1619 Bonalino started managing the building 
site, effectively acting as de’ Servi’s adjutant.

On 6 November 1619, a contract was signed 
between Bonalino and Nicol Thenier ‘der Jün-
gere’, entrusting the administration of the works 
to the latter for the winter months, while Bona-
lino returned home to his family, in Scheßlitz.61 
In the same month, de’ Servi left Weimar for 
Nuremberg, and thence travelled to Neuburg 
and Florence. Thus, from the end of 1619 Bo-
nalino was the most senior person in charge of 
the reconstruction project, himself now able to 
rely on an adjutant, Thenier. Over the following 
three years, the sources suggest that Bonalino 
spent the summer season (March to October) in 
Weimar; presumably he returned to Scheßlitz 
every winter, leaving Thenier in charge.62 In 1623 
he left altogether, protesting that his job was 
impeded by the lack of cooperation of local offi-
cials.63 On one occasion, according to Bonalino’s 
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correspondence with the Weimar court, one of 
his workers had died on the job, but he had been 
refused burial in Weimar’s graveyard, and had 
eventually had to be buried on the building site.64 
After Bonalino’s departure, it was Thenier who 
managed the works until completion, in the late 
1620s; the Schlosskirche was finally consecrated 
in 1630, twelve years after the fire.65

III

The precise status of the unsigned and undated 
ground plan for the new Weimar Residenzschloss 
(fig. 1) is unclear. It is unlikely to have been 
a sketch or a preparatory drawing, given the 
amount of detail presented and the numerous 
annotations. The absence of tears, penpricks, or 
other marks of use suggests that it was probably 
not the reference plan used on the construction 
site by Bonalino, Thenier, and their workers. Its 
finished state, particularly the use of waterco-
lours to shade in bodies of water (light blue), veg-
etation (light green), and built areas (pink), hints 
instead to the possibility that it was intended as 
a presentation copy: it would have been given to 
Duke Johann Ernst ‘der Jüngere’ as a statement 
of intent, illustrating the architect’s ambitions, 
perhaps jointly with plans of the upper floors, 
and elevations of the façades. Sabine Eiche made 
a similar suggestion for de’ Servi’s plan for the 
overhaul of Richmond Palace and its gardens, 
pointing to the fact that it is “neatly rendered and 
attractively coloured”.66

Whatever its precise status, the unsigned and 
undated ground plan is the only visual source 
outlining the reconstruction project for the Re-
sidenzschloss which appears to have survived, in 
Weimar or elsewhere.67 As a consequence, pre-
vious literature has focused on it as the expres-
sion of Bonalino’s intentions for the new castle.68 
Similarly, this article will treat it as the illus-
tration of de’ Servi’s ambitions, which are also 
made explicit in his second Saxon letter, dated 

25 September 1619. In it, de’ Servi wrote that “a 
great building has been started, following my 
design and model”.69 He went on to describe the 
new Residenzschloss in detail, including mea-
surements in “braccia” (a traditional Florentine 
unit of measurement of ca. 58 cm); he also ex-
plained the function of some rooms within the 
building. This description corresponds in every 
point to the ground plan, whose distances can be 
measured in “braccia” using a scale bar drawn in 
the middle of the central courtyard (fig. 1). Put-
ting the letter and the ground plan side by side 
it is therefore possible to gain an insight into de’ 
Servi’s intentions for the new Weimar Residenz-
schloss.70

De’ Servi started describing the new Residenz-
schloss by noting its “square shape”, a feature that 
is immediately evident to anyone observing the 
ground plan.71 As has already been mentioned, 
de’ Servi chose to re-model the half-burnt as-
semblage of medieval and Renaissance build-
ings, roughly oval in shape, known as ‘Schloss 
Hornstein’, into a rectangular fortress, with 
“four bastions 300 Braccia long and 200 wide”.72 
Enclosed within these walls was a four-winged 
“Palazo [sic]”, with a central courtyard “160 brac-
cia long and 98 braccia wide […] which will serve 
for the barrier”,73 and a further “four [small] 
courtyards 50 braccia long and 30 wide”.74 The 
central courtyard is visible on the ground plan, 
as are three of the four small courtyards, one 
along the east wing, one in the north-eastern and 
one in the north-western corners. The mention 
of “four [small] courtyards” by de’ Servi might 
thus have been an oversight, where he intended 
to write three; it might also reflect an earlier ver-
sion of the reconstruction plans. Given the great 
importance given to symmetry and proportions 
in his project, it is possible that de’ Servi had 
planned a second courtyard along the west wing, 
on the central east-west axis where the east wing 
courtyard can be found.

The area of the ground plan where the fourth 
courtyard might originally have been intended 
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is coloured in the same shade of pink used to 
indicate all other built areas of the castle (fig. 5). 
This large space with no walls separating it into 
rooms and no written label indicating its func-
tion has confounded scholars, who have sug-
gested that it might be an unfinished part of the 
plan.75 De Servi’s letter, however, points us in a 
different direction: the area’s size singles it out 
as the “horses’ covered yard, 30 braccia wide 
and 180 braccia long”.76 Although its contours 
are only sketched, the yard would probably have 
had four doors: one opening on a bridge span-
ning the western moat of the castle, one giving 
access to the west wing of the palazzo, one open-
ing on to the north-western small courtyard, 
and one to the south, giving access to the great 
square in front of the palazzo. De’ Servi pointed 
out that this great square – “200 braccia long and 

70 wide” – is “where ring runs and other festi-
vals will be held without leaving the castle”.77 
Furthermore, the south wing of the palazzo is 
also where “the stables for 90 horses” could be 
found.78 These are easily distinguishable on the 
ground plan, either side of the southern gateway 
to the palazzo, due to the individual boxes in 
which they are subdivided.79

To the east of the stables de’ Servi placed a 
“fountain for the horses”, which is not men-
tioned in his letter.80 Symmetrical to this one, 
to the west of the stables, was another fountain 
“for common service”.81 Larger than the horses’, 
it is decorated with a shell-shaped pattern on 
the ground plan, suggesting that it might have 
been an ornamental fountain, even though it 
was primarily intended for service, not leisure. 
No fountain, on the other hand, seems to have 

5  Costantino de’ Servi (by or after), Ground plan of the new Weimar Residenzschloss (detail: west wing), undated 
(1618/1619), pen and watercolours on paper, 32.3 × 30 cm. Weimar, Klassik Stiftung (KSW), Graphische Sammlungen
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been planned to decorate the “two little gar-
dens behind the great hall which border on the 
moated wall, 30 braccia in width and 50 braccia 
in length each”.82 This stands in contrast with de’ 
Servi’s plan for the overhaul of Richmond Pa
lace, where the gardens occupied a surface larger 
than the built area, and contained numerous wa-
ter features and fountains (fig. 2). As has already 
been mentioned, however, the focus in Weimar 
was on the reconstruction of a largely destroyed 
castle, whereas in Richmond the palace was in 
good standing, requiring only renovation and 
extension. Furthermore, planning a walled gar-
den adjacent to the castle was in keeping with at 
least one local precedent in Weimar: the 1560s 
‘Grüne Schlösschen’ included one such garden, 
which bordered on the city walls (fig. 3).83

Along the southern wall of the Residenz-
schloss, either side of the main bridge and gate-
way, de’ Servi planned “twelve workshops all 
for the service of the Castle and of the Prince, 
farrier, blacksmith, arrow-maker, arquebus-
maker, gunsmith, locksmith, with other needed 
crafts”.84 The list can be completed by relying on 
the labels of the ground plan: the “other needed 
crafts” were an eperon-maker, a potter, a tailor, 
a barber, a carpenter, and a porter to guard the 
door.85 As de’ Servi pointed out in the short text 
which he wrote in the bottom right corner of 
the ground plan, “each of these workshops will 
have another room underground, lit through the 
slits in the foot of the moated walls, as [another 
room] upstairs under the roof to sleep, so that 
there will be in total 3 rooms, for a [grand total] 
number of 39”.86 The round towers in the four 
corners of the castle were also to accommodate 
services. The south-eastern tower would house 
“gunpowder”, while “balls” would be stored in 
the south-western tower and a “foundry” would 
occupy the north-western tower.87 The arrange-
ment for the north-eastern tower is the only one 
mentioned in de’ Servi’s letter: “I have made the 
mint on top of a bastion because only on that side 
flows the river, which has a good stream flow, so 

that with wheels all of the services of the mint 
will be done.”88 This is visible on the reconstruc-
tion plan: the course of the Ilm is sketched and 
shaded in the same light blue which also indi-
cates the moats. The latter are connected to the 
river just outside the north-eastern corner of the 
castle, right by the proposed location of the mint 
bastion. Thus, while meeting the high expecta-
tions of his times in terms of symmetry and pro-
portions, de’ Servi adapted his design to make 
the most of the opportunities offered by the ter-
rain on which the Residenzschloss stood.

Placing all workshops along the southern wall 
and in the four towers had another advantage: 
it freed up the west wing of the palazzo itself. In 
the medieval and Renaissance castle residential 
and representative functions had been confined 
to the east wing, together with part of the north 
wing, whilst the rest of the castle comprised ser-
vice buildings such as kitchen, stables, and work-
shops.89 This is very visible in the 1569 bird’s eye 
view of Weimar (fig. 3): if the east wing stands 
out by its height, the tower of its church, and its 
blue ornate roof, the rest of the castle – with the 
exception of the main gateway and its tower – is 
depicted as a ring of buildings no different from 
the houses of the city. De’ Servi’s ground plan 
suggests a different allocation of spaces: in ad-
dition to the workshops which have already been 
discussed, the only parts of the castle to be used 
for services seem to have been the ground floor 
of the north and south wing of the palazzo. The 
entirety of the east and west wing, together with 
the upper portion of the north and south wing, 
would thus have been devoted to residential and 
representative functions.90

It is unfortunately impossible to form a com-
plete picture of the intended allocation of rooms 
and spaces within the palazzo from the available 
sources. De’ Servi’s letter is vague in this respect, 
mentioning only that there would be “50 rooms 
per floor, so that including the attics one could 
say there are 200 rooms”.91 As for the ground 
plan, it is not only restricted to the ground floor 
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of the Residenzschloss; its labelling is also in-
complete, leaving scholars in the dark as to the 
function of many rooms. The large room in the 
north-western corner of the palazzo is a case 
in point. Ina Bahnschulte has suggested that it 
might have served as ballroom, pointing to its 
size, shape, and the existence of a gallery along 
its eastern and southern walls, where musicians 
and singers might have been placed.92 It might 
also be the “wide and long game of rope [giuoco 
di Corda]”93 mentioned in de’ Servi’s letter, 
which would otherwise not find correspondence 
anywhere else in the ground plan. In the absence 
of further sources making the architect’s inten-
tions explicit no conclusion can be reached.

De’ Servi fortunately labelled, and discussed 
at length in his letter, the centrepiece of his pa-
lazzo, the large room in the middle of the north 
wing, which was prolonged at the back as far 
as the northern wall of the castle. On the first 
floor, this was to be “the great hall, 30 braccia 
wide and 60 long, with a loggia situated in the 
middle of the main façade of the courtyard”.94 
This loggia would have been the first thing visi-
tors would see if they entered the castle, then the 
palazzo, through their main gateways along the 
north-south axis. As Bahnschulte has suggested, 
the great hall’s loggia might have included some 
form of representative staircase reaching down 
to the courtyard: the only other staircases in 
the north wing were two small spiral staircases, 
which cannot have been the intended way to ac-
cess such a majestic space.95 The ground plan, 
however, does not bear any trace of this; further-
more, in his letter de’ Servi described “four prin-
cipal staircases, two large ones like those at the 
Pitti, not as wide but with height to match, with 
two further principal ones in spiral shape, and 
other secret staircases”.96 Therefore, guests were 
probably intended to use the “two large [stair-
cases] like those at the Pitti” in the east and west 
wing, and to go through a series of (presumably 
representative) rooms on the first floor before 
reaching the great hall.

Below the great hall, on the ground floor, de’ 
Servi set aside the vaulted space for use as “ar-
senal”, with two symmetrical “armouries” either 
side.97 Here were to be stored “artilleries and at 
each pillar an armed horse and on each side, un-
der the apartments, on this same floor will be all 
of the arquebuseries, breastplates and other dif-
ferent weapons in good number”.98 The decision 
to store weaponry at the heart of the palazzo, 
under the floor of its grandest hall, might have 
responded to a symbolic wish to underscore 
the military might and prowess of the Dukes 
of Sachsen-Weimar. It may also seem a danger-
ous choice, which could jeopardise the lives of 
the Duke and his guests, if an accident were to 
occurr during a reception in the great hall up-
stairs. However, it should be remembered that 
gunpowder was to be stored separately, in the 
south-eastern tower, away from the residential 
and representative quarters.

The north-eastern corner of the ground floor 
was devoted to the preparation of food, which 
was presumably to be consumed in the great 
hall upstairs, and in one or more private dining 
rooms for the ducal family. Immediately south of 
the eastern armoury was the larder; then a flight 
of rooms, from north to south the kitchen, pas-
sageway, pantry, and pasticceria (bakery, pastry), 
were to stretch out into the ground floor of the 
east wing.99 To the south of this series of service 
rooms was a square pavilion with a small inter-
nal courtyard, which reached out as far as the 
eastern walls of the castle. This was to be built on 
the remains of the ‘Grüne Haus’: the spiral stair-
case which de’ Servi incorporated in his design 
can be seen in Richter’s drawing of the Residenz-
schloss after the fire (fig. 4).

In order to maintain symmetry de’ Servi 
planned a second square pavilion in the east 
wing, which was to house the church of St Mar-
tin. In the medieval and Renaissance Residenz-
schloss the church had been a separate building 
with a prominent bell tower, as can be seen in the 
1569 bird’s eye view of Weimar (fig. 3). Instead, 
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de’ Servi incorporated it within his palazzo. How 
radical this choice was can be fully appreciated 
because the south-eastern pavilion was the only 
part of de’ Servi’s design to be effectively re-
alised, between 1619 and 1630.100 A drawing by 
Christian Richter shows it shortly after comple-
tion, in the 1630s (fig. 6): the pavilion is a square 
structure with three floors and a sloping roof, 
without a bell tower. Nothing on the façade be-
trays the existence of a church inside. De’ Servi 
thus transformed St Martin into a Schlosskirche, 

subordinating the sacred to the proportions and 
symmetry of his overall design.

In between the two pavilions of the east wing 
the ground plan shows the largest, most elabo-
rate staircase of the whole palazzo. It is placed 
on an east-west axis with the other representa-
tive staircase in the west wing, and with a bridge 
on the moat, then a bridge on the Ilm to the east. 
A second approach to the castle is thus created, 
with its own symmetry: visitors arriving from 
the east rather than the south would cross two 

6  Christian Richter, View of the courtyard of the Weimar Residenzschloss from the north, ca. 1638, pen on paper, 
25.4 × 28 cm. Weimar, Klassik Stiftung (KSW), Graphische Sammlungen
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bridges and be faced with two symmetrical pa-
vilions framing a gateway which immediately led 
them to the grand staircase. The absence of stair-
case in the north wing might have been intended 
to highlight the double symmetry of the palazzo, 
its two axes corresponding to the two main ap-
proaches.101

The elegance of de’ Servi’s design was to be 
matched, in the architect’s intentions, by the 
richness of decoration. The south wing receives 
particular attention in de’ Servi’s letter, for “the 
external façade overlooking the square will 
be in Rustic order with diamond-shaped Boze 
(bosses), with the scarpa reaching as high as the 
first floor, prolongated by two orders over the 
gateway which leads into the great courtyard 
[…].”102 As impressive as it could have been, this 

façade of the Residenzschloss was never realised. 
Another of de’ Servi’s planned façades did see 
the light of day: the four sides of the south-
eastern pavilion are to this day embellished by 
“the vertical elevation [featuring] the three or-
ders of architecture, Tuscan, Doric, and Ionic, 
which will give magnificent appearance to the 
perspective all around the said courtyard with 
the same order” (fig. 7).103

In the second half of the seventeenth century 
Duke Wilhelm IV embarked on the comple-
tion of the Residenzschloss. His architect Johann 
Moritz Richter (born 1620) broadly followed de’ 
Servi’s 1619 project, albeit reducing the wings of 
the palazzo from four to three. Richter incorpo-
rated within his design de’ Servi’s south-eastern 
pavilion, and he decided to extend the super-
position of Tuscan, Doric, and Ionic orders to 
the whole Residenzschloss.104 The ducal palace 
in Weimar has undergone many more recon-
structions, renovations, and restorations, but as 
Walter Scheidig put it in 1949, “the general ap-
pearance of the external walls of the castle, with 
the arrangement of the floors, the design of the 
windows, the disposition of pilasters and rustic 
bosses goes back to [de’ Servi’s] 1619 project”.105

IV

The virtually exact correspondence between the 
description contained in de’ Servi’s 1619 letter 
and the anonymous ground plan leaves little 
doubt as to the attribution of the new Weimar 
Residenzschloss: the architect was de’ Servi, 
whilst Bonalino was solely executor of plans laid 
out for him. Further evidence for this new attri-
bution can be found by comparing the labels on 
the ground plan with de’ Servi’s letters (fig. 8): 
they have most probably been written by the 
same hand. Another fruitful comparison can be 
made between the Residenzschloss ground plan 
and de’ Servi’s 1611 – 1612 plan for the overhaul 
of Richmond Palace and its gardens (fig. 2): the 

7  Weimar Residenzschloss; internal façade, south-eastern 
corner, photographed from the courtyard

226 Zeitschrift für Kunstgeschichte  83. Band / 2020



8  Florence, Archivio di Stato (ASFi), Mediceo del Principato (MdP), Minute di lettere e registri, 86, 
fol. 117. Letter from Costantino de’ Servi, in The Hague, to Andrea Cioli, 10 November 1615
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stylistic similarities are striking, and the writ-
ing appears again to have been done by the same 
hand.106

The strongest evidence for the new attribution 
comes from Duke Johann Ernst ‘der Jüngere’ 
himself: in his letter to Grand Duke Cosimo II 
dated 10 November 1619, he wrote: “It pleased 
Your Highness to favour me, instead of Giulio 
Parigi, with Costantino de’ Servi, who arrived 
here [in Weimar] just after a disgrace happened to 
this palace: a fire that started secretly and ended 
up destroying more than half its buildings and yet 
other things. In these reparations I have employed 
him, and he used due diligence both in the model 
as in other related commands.”107 The phrasing 
of this passage suggests that de’ Servi had also 
created a scale model (modello) of the projected 
Residenzschloss, in addition to the ground plan 
discussed here. Indeed, de’ Servi himself in his 
second Saxon letter had written that “a great 
building has been started, following my design 
and model [disegnio e’ Modello]”.108 The model, 
together with any other drawings or plans per-
taining to the project, has not survived.109

Previous scholarship on the Weimar Residenz
schloss overlooked de’ Servi’s role in planning 
the 1619 – 1630 reconstruction for two reasons. 
First, de’ Servi’s stay at the ducal court in 1618 –
1619 was brief, and took place at a tumultuous 
time. Second, there appear to be few or no ref-
erences to de’ Servi in the archival material in 
Weimar. The Florentine polymath’s letters from 
Saxony, just like Duke Johann Ernst’s correspon-
dence with the Medici, are kept in the Florence 
Archivio di Stato, and are neither indexed, nor 
available in digital format (yet). In the absence of 
a more plausible author, attributing the ground 
plan – and with it the whole project – for the new 
Weimar Residenzschloss to Bonalino, who effec-
tively directed the reconstruction works, was a 
reasonable suggestion.

Re-attributing this project to de’ Servi is the 
starting point to rethink the stylistic influences 
shaping the reconstruction plan. As has been 

noted, Bonalino was a young master-builder in 
1618 – 1619; he had not yet been associated with 
any major building project. Scholars working 
on the Weimar Residenzschloss have thus found 
themselves at a loss to identify the sources of in-
spiration which might have guided his hand in 
designing the new castle. De’ Servi, by contrast, 
had led a successful career at princely and royal 
courts around Europe, and the possible sources 
of inspiration therefore abound. They merit a 
systematic analysis extending well beyond the 
scope of this article; the three directions of in-
quiry sketched here are thus intended not as 
definitive statements, but only as invitations for 
further research.110

The first and most obvious influence permeat-
ing de’ Servi’s design is Italianate in conception 
and style. The four-winged building organised 
around a courtyard, its façades decorated with 
the superposition of architectural orders, is a 
cousin of the Renaissance palazzi gracing many 
towns and cities of the peninsula. The Palazzo 
Pitti’s importance as a source of inspiration for 
the Residenzschloss ’s staircases has already been 
noted; the similarities with the grand-ducal resi-
dence in Florence, however, seem to end there. 
This is not surprising: if his son Francesco de’ 
Servi did work for Parigi on the overhaul of the 
palace and its gardens, Costantino de’ Servi 
himself was never directly involved in building 
activities in Florence.111 There, his professional 
activity seems to have been limited to what we 
would call ‘decorative arts’, i.e. sculpture, paint-
ing, medal-making, and pietre dure.112 The build-
ing projects in which de’ Servi was involved be-
fore the Weimar Residenzschloss all took place 
north of the Alps, while he was residing at for-
eign courts.

In particular, we know from de’ Servi’s ear-
liest surviving letter that in 1574 he was in “the 
castle of Litomyšl belonging to the most illus-
trious Milord Pernstein”.113 Wratislaw von Per-
nstein (1530 – 1582) was a Bohemian magnate, 
Catholic convert of moderate views, and in addi-
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tion to membership of Maximilian II’s and then 
Rudolf II’s Secret Council he held the Supreme 
Chancellorship of the Kingdom of Bohemia.114 
A great patron of the arts, between 1568 and 
1581 Pernstein was having his castle at Litomyšl 
rebuilt in Renaissance style by two architects 
from Lugano, Giovanni Maria Aostalli and Ul-
rico Aostalli.115 On the basis of de’ Servi’s letter 
from Litomyšl it is unfortunately impossible to 
say whether the young Florentine had any in-
volvement with the building works: he merely 
remarked that “as for the lodging of Milord it is a 
very nice building”.116

Litomyšl castle still stands, and it bears some 
interesting resemblances to de’ Servi’s recon-
struction project for the Weimar Residenz-
schloss: it also consists of a four-winged palazzo, 
with a Schlosskirche incorporated within the 
main building. Its most striking feature is the 
courtyard, surrounded on three sides by a triple 

loggia, with three different architectural orders 
superposed (fig. 9). Although de’ Servi did plan a 
small loggia in front of the great hall, the façades 
of his projected Weimar Residenzschloss have lit-
tle in common with the arrangement at Litomyšl. 
Their closest precedent in terms of superposition 
of orders and arrangement of decoration can 
probably be found at the Palazzo Marino, in Mi-
lan, which de’ Servi may have visited during his 
brief stay at the Spanish Governor’s court, in the 
spring of 1618 (fig. 10).117 Although not identical, 
the façades of the Palazzo Marino and the Resi-
denzschloss present many similarities, from the 
superposition of three architectural orders in the 
pilasters framing the windows to the detail of the 
flutings of the top-floor pilasters, which converge 
downwards on both façades.

Designed by Galeazzo Alessi in 1557, the Pa-
lazzo Marino was erected for a Milanese banker 
of Genoese origins, Tommaso Marino, in a style 

9  Litomyšl Castle; internal façade, southern side, photographed from the courtyard
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reminiscent of Roman Mannerism: scholars 
have cited Antonio da Sangallo’s Palazzo Farnese 
as an important influence on Alessi’s civil archi-
tecture.118 Investigating the Italianate influences 
on the reconstruction project for the Weimar 
Residenzschloss thus yields surprising insights: 
the path does not lead to Medicean Tuscany, 
de’ Servi’s fatherland, as much as to Rudolfine 
Bohemia, Spanish Milan, and mannerist Rome. 
De’ Servi’s upbringing in Bohemia, so far over-
looked by his biographers, and his long career at 
various European courts help to explain why the 
repertoire of skills and themes on which he drew 
to design the Weimar Residenzschloss is more 
eclectic in origin than it might first appear.119

Another building project with which de’ 
Servi’s name is associated is the overhaul of 
Richmond Palace and its gardens, in 1611 – 1612. 
Comparisons have been drawn throughout 
this article between the commissions of Henry 

Stuart, Prince of Wales, in London and Johann 
Ernst ‘der Jüngere’, Duke of Sachsen-Weimar, 
in Weimar: in particular, the difference in fo-
cus between the two undertakings – gardens in 
Richmond, the castle itself in Weimar – has been 
noted. De’ Servi’s English experience, however, 
must have influenced his work in Saxony. This 
second source of inspiration is connected to the 
first one: Henry Stuart had sought the assistance 
of a Florentine architect precisely because he 
wished to turn Richmond into a Renaissance 
palace in the Italian style.120 When investigating 
the English influence, it might thus be especially 
fruitful to focus on de’ Servi’s interactions with 
other prominent artists at the English court: 
the local architect Inigo Jones, for example, or 
the French hydraulic philosopher Salomon de 
Caus.121 The latter worked at Richmond before de’ 
Servi’s arrival, building some preliminary water 
conduits and reservoirs for the gardens. He went 

10  Palazzo Marino, Milan; external façade, south-eastern side, photographed from Piazza San Fedele
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on to design and partly build the Heidelberg 
Hortus Palatinus for Elector Palatine Frederick 
V, from 1614 to 1619.122

Finally, local influences must also have played 
an important part in guiding de’ Servi’s pen. The 
precedent of the walled garden of the ‘Grüne 
Schlösschen’ has already been discussed; the 
Schlosskirche also deserves a mention. As Rolf 
Bothe has noted its design, which included gal-
leries on two floors to allow the ducal family and 
other nobles to be separated from other church-
goers, was conventional for Saxon Schlosskirchen, 
and might have been directly inspired by the 
church of Schloss Hartenfels in Torgau, which 
had been consecrated by Martin Luther in 1544.123 
Furthermore, Duke Johann Ernst ‘der Jüngere’ 
aspired to be a great cultural and artistic patron; 
exploring the range of talents which he assem-
bled at his court between 1615, when he became 
Duke, and 1619 would allow us to understand the 
kind of intellectual milieu within which de’ Servi 
worked in 1618 – 1619.

Attributing the reconstruction project for the 
Weimar Residenzschloss to Costantino de’ Servi 
is thus not an exercise in pedantry. It is a poign
ant reminder of the importance of crossing mod-
ern national and linguistic boundaries for the 
purposes of historical research: this article relies 
on a comparison between archival documents in 
Weimar and in Florence, and on an analysis of 
literature in German, Italian and English. Fur-
thermore, the Weimar Residenzschloss is placed 
within a wider European context through de’ 
Servi’s reconstruction project. Rather than ow-
ing its design to a Swiss master-builder and a 
vague Italianate style, the Residenzschloss can be 
put in direct connection with the Palazzo Ma-
rino in Milan, Litomyšl Castle in Bohemia, Rich-
mond Palace in London, and Schloss Hartenfels 
in Torgau. This new attribution, therefore, can 
enrich both our understanding of the architec-
tural history of the Weimar Residenzschloss and 
our appreciation of the development of late Re-
naissance architecture.
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